
 

  
 

 



 

  

The roots of education in Hocking County extend as far 
back as 1785.  The Northwest Survey Ordinance of 1785 
dealt with the surveying of the land north of the Ohio 
River and west of the Allegheny Mountains and provided 
that Section 16 in each township from this survey be 
used to support the public schools within the township. 
Each township consisted of thirty-six sections, each sec-
tion being one square mile in area.  Land east of the Scio-
to River was surveyed in this manner. 

The Continental Congress passed another ordinance to 
enable the 1785 Ordinance to be implemented.  The 
Northwest Ordinance of 1787 made provision for the 
division of the territory into states with a guarantee of 
religious freedom and civil liberty.  Slavery was prohibit-
ed and education and morality were encouraged.  This 
ordinance provided a school endowment of 704,000 
acres of land in Ohio alone. 

After becoming a state in 1803, the Ohio Legislature be-
came the agent to carry out the intent of the federal gov-
ernment.  Ohio was the first state to use this program to 
support education.  Unfortunately, the program did not 
work very well because of the restrictions and obliga-
tions placed on the land leasers.  Changes were eventual-
ly made in this program. 

Three trustees and a treasurer were elected by the town-
ship to lease the land and collect the rent.  This revenue 
was given to the education fund for schools.  The 1817 
Ohio Legislature granted a 99-year lease, renewable for-
ever with an appraisal to be made every 33 years and the 
rent fixed at 6% of the appraised value.  As history was to 
reveal, this legislation did not work as planned. 

The Congress of 1826 allowed for the lands to be re-
leased and sold.  The early settlers soon learned that the 
school land in Section 16 could be obtained at a cost far 
below the current market price charged for other lands 
by the United States Land Office.  However, the price for 
the school land was firm and full payment in cash was 
required on the date of purchase.  This was a hardship 
for some settlers. 

The early schools were closely associated with the 
church since parents wanted their children to learn to 
read the Bible.  When the early settlers wanted their chil-
dren to learn to read, write, or learn arithmetic, the par-
ents had to either teach them at home or have the minis-
ters conduct classes in their churches or homes. 

Some parents felt that their children were needed to 
work at home and learn the family trade, not book learn-
ing.  These settlers were more concerned with survival 

and making a living from the land.  Therefore, there were 
arguments both for and against formal education.  These 
same arguments were held throughout early Ohio com-
munities. 

These early log schools were of primitive construction 
with puncheon floors or dirt floors.  The windows were 
covered with greased paper to let in light.  Lard was 
rubbed into the paper to make it more transparent.  The 
door was made of clapboards, rough boards which were 
hung on wooden hinges.  Pulling a string that lifted the 
latch on the inside opened it.  Tardy students who found 
no string outside knew that the teacher was conducting 
morning prayers and had to wait silently outside until the 
latchstring appeared. 

A fireplace with a stick and mud chimney and benches of 
split logs made up the furnishings of the school.  There 
were no single desks in these early classrooms.  The 
benches upon which the students sat had no support for 
their backs but were only slabs on rude legs.  The smaller 
children’s feet were too short to touch the floor.  Other 
slabs along the walls, supported on pins fixed at a proper 
slope in the logs beneath the windows were the conven-
ient writing benches for that day.  Several students spent 
the day facing the wall. 

The classroom environment was very uncomfortable for 
the children, especially since they had to sit still for many 
hours.  In winter, they huddled together in order to keep 
warm.  The children close to the fireplace were too hot, 
and those farthest away were cold.  Even in the later 
schools, heating was a problem with the coal burning 
stoves.  Sometimes it was so cold in the school that the 
homemade ink froze in the inkwells and the lunches 
brought from home were also frozen. 

An example of a log school 
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A teacher taught for twelve weeks at a rate of a dollar or 
two for each pupil per term.  Often the tuition was paid 
in wheat at fifty cents per bushel and the balance in 
cash.  At this rate a teacher could earn between twenty 
and forty dollars a term.  Free public education had not 
yet come to Ohio.  Those early settlers who could not 
afford the tuition did not send their children to school.  
Compulsory attendance laws were not passed in Ohio 
until much later. 

Because the students in the classes ranged in age from 
five to twenty-one years of age, the teacher had a hard 
job not to bore the students with the same lessons over 
and over.  The teacher had to teach all subjects at the 
different levels.  Some students would fall asleep while 
waiting for the teacher to get to their level.  Most of the 
instruction was devoted to reciting and memorizing, not 
a very exciting way to learn. 

Teachers had to deal with many of the same discipline 
problems faced by teachers today. Since some teachers 
were as young as eighteen, some of the students were 
older than the teacher.  These older students sometimes 
were discipline problems and harassed the teachers.  
Many a boy was punished for dipping a girl’s pigtail or 
braid into the inkwell. 

Discipline was sometimes harsh since most teachers 
used a leather strap or a hickory stick to punish students.  
“Taught to the tune of a hickory stick” was reality in 
those early schools.  Others were made to stand in a cor-
ner, wore a dunce cap, balanced themselves on a block 
of wood that rested on a small round log, or wore signs 
tied around their necks describing their misdeed.  Par-
ents seldom complained or criticized the teachers for the 
punishments meted out.  This was before parents knew 
they could sue the schools for cruel and unusual punish-
ment or for denying certain rights. 

Since paper was very scarce on the frontier and quite 
expensive, most lessons were written on a small slate 
board that each student carried to and from school each 
day.  The teacher used a large slate at the front of the 
room.  In the age of computers, teachers today use 
whiteboards and smart boards along with a lot of tech-
nology that someday will be as outmoded as the black-
board.  

Textbooks brought from Pennsylvania and the Atlantic 
Seaboard States were used in these early schools.  This 
collection of textbooks included Murray’s English Reader 
with Introduction, Columbian Orator, American Precep-
tor, Testaments, old almanacs, Dillworth’s Speller and 
Webster’s Easy Standard of Pronunciation.  Pike’s Arith-
metic was the universal favorite.  If a teacher was unable 
to perform the “Rule of Three,” he/she lost the respect 

of both the pupils and the parents. 

Those who sought education for their children were sat-
isfied when their progenies could write simple sentenc-
es, could read the Bible or an almanac, and when they 
could understand the mysterious computations of num-
bers as to be able to determine the value of a load of 
farm produce.  The early settlers considered this crude 
instruction sufficient since they lived in an agrarian socie-
ty.  Any more education than this was regarded as dan-
gerous since many felt that education made boys lazy 
and tricky. 

It was also a popular belief that girls who could read and 
write were apt to fall easy prey to an unscrupulous suitor 
who might entrap these young ladies by exchanging love 
letters which an illiterate mother would be unable to 
decipher.  Thus, many girls failed to learn to write.  Sev-
eral of the children’s parents could only sign their names 
with an “X” and were unable to read. 

Teachers were also held in a strange light.  Many felt that 
teachers taught only because they were not capable of 
doing manual labor.  This myth has carried over into the 
present day as evidenced in the saying, “Those who 
can’t, teach.”  To be a good teacher requires many skills, 
hard work, and dedication to service.  All should consider 
teaching as one of the best vocations that anyone could 
pursue. 

With the passage of the Ohio School Law of 1835, free 
public education had its inception.  School funds were 
now derived from the State School Tax, creating a new 
state fund of $200,000.  Also, money was still available 
from township school lands and from interest on the 
proceeds of section 16 land sales in each township.  Local 
school authorities could also levy a tax on real estate to 
secure school funds. 

The townships were divided into school districts that 
same year. Schools were to be located near the center of 
each of the sections in each district so that students 
would not have to walk more than 1.5 miles to school.  

Each of these districts had three school directors who 
hired the teachers and were responsible for promoting 
education in their district.  These directors were elected 
for one-year terms.  Beginning in 1842, they were elect-
ed to three-year terms.  It was often very difficult to get 
people to serve on this board.  Men were reported to 
have walked for miles and visited many homes to find a 
successor to fill a vacancy before someone would agree 
to serve. 

In 1853, a law put the authority into the hands of a town-
ship board of education that hired the six teachers and a 
district superintendent.  One director from each district 
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made up the six-man board of the township.  The law of 
1853 failed to abolish the former district directors, so 
confusion in jurisdiction lasted until 1890 when the town-
ship board was given full authority.   

The one-room schools that followed the log schools were 
usually made of wood until after 1850 when the first red 
brick schools were built.  The one-room schoolhouses 
were equipped with stoves, slate blackboards, recitation 
benches and desks, some double in size.  Some of the 
schools were very overcrowded. 

Teachers had to be at least eighteen years old during this 
era and had to know more than the pupils.  To ensure 
this, the teachers had to pass an examination at the 
county seat.  The county hired examiners to administer 
these tests.  The examiners of the common schools were 
appointed on a yearly basis and were responsible for giv-
ing an examination to every person wishing to be em-
ployed as a teacher.  If the person passed the test and 
had good moral character, a teaching certificate was is-
sued.  The examiner visited the schools and gave advice 
relative to discipline, mode of instruction, and manage-
ment of the schools.  The tests that the teachers took 
were very difficult.  Many teachers today with a college 
education would find these tests difficult to pass.  Each 
January the questions used that year appeared in the 
local newspapers.  Thus, the parents knew what type of 
educational background was expected of the teachers.  
Today’s teachers must pass a national teacher exam in 
order to be licensed to teach. 

The wages for these early teachers averaged $33.50 per 
month for the spring and summer terms and $40.00 a 
month for the longer winter term.  It appears that teach-
ers have always been underpaid and overworked. 

Prior to the Civil War, there were no compulsory attend-
ance laws.  In 1877, children between the ages of eight 
and fourteen were obligated under state law to attend a 
minimum of twelve weeks of instruction during each 
school year.  However, this law permitted many excep-
tions and was thus largely ineffective.  In 1890, the Ohio 
General Assembly made it compulsory for children be-
tween the ages of eight and sixteen to attend not less 
than sixteen weeks of school each year unless excused 
for some specific reason which was indicated in the law. 

On April 15, 1889, a state law required that a truant of-
ficer be hired in each township. 

The school year consisted of a winter term of six months 
and a spring term of three months.  The summer term 
was also three months and was usually not taught by the 
regular teacher.  School was in session year-round during 
the first hundred years of education in the township.  

Opening day for the students occurred during the first 
week in September, but the older boys did not have to 
report until the middle of October.  They were needed on 
the farms to cut and husk corn and to sow wheat. Very 
few older children attended the spring term because they 
were needed at home.  These students usually made up 
the work during the summer term. 

The parents were required to purchase the textbooks 
and supplies.  Since twenty years before the Civil War, 
the popular textbooks in the township included the 
McGuffey Readers and Ray’s Arithmetic.  These books 
were to be in continual use for several years.   In 1888, 
the schools in the district were using the following text-
books:  The McGuffey Spellers and Revised Readers, Bed-
path History, Ray’s Arithmetic, Harvey’s Grammar and 
Electric Geography.  Textbooks were re-evaluated every 
three years by the school directors. 

On May 4, 1891, the Ohio School Textbook Law was 
passed and the same textbooks had to be purchased for 
the entire township.  The cost of the most popular text-
books of the time were McGuffey Revised Electric Read-
ers from a cost of 13 cents for book one to 64 cents for 
book six, The McGuffey Electric Spelling Book for 13 cents 
each, Ray’s New Primary Arithmetic at 11 cents, Ray’s 
New Practical Arithmetic at 38 cents, Ray’s New Higher 
Arithmetic at 64 cents, Ray’s New Elementary Algebra for 
60 cents, Harvey’s Elementary Grammar and Composi-
tion for 32 cents, Harvey’s Revised English Grammar for 
49 cents, The Electric Elementary Geography for 41 cents, 
The Electric Complete Ohio Geography for 90 cents, The 
Electric Primary United States History for 38 cents each, 
The New Electric United States History for 75 cents, Elec-
tric Physical Geography for 75 cents, and Hutchinson’s 
Physiology and Hygiene at 84 cents each. 

Starting in 1915, the school could only purchase text-
books that were adopted by the County Board of Educa-
tion.  Every five years textbooks had to be re-evaluated.   

The schools of the township will be long remembered for 
the great service they rendered to education and the 
children who attended these schools.  Many of these chil-
dren became outstanding prominent adults who contrib-
uted greatly to the improvement of our society.  Even 
with the lack of supplies, equipment and time, the little 
red schoolhouses provided the opportunity for much to 
be accomplished in the way of education.  The era of the 
red schoolhouses has passed into history leaving behind 
only memories of days gone by and a rich heritage for 
schools of the future.  The schools served their purpose 
well and it is up to the new generation to continue on the 
excellence in education that began with the one-room 
schools. 
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[The following was copied from the above history book 
and reprinted here as it appeared.] 

Though struggling through the pressure of poverty and 
privation, the early settlers planted among them the 
schoolhouse at the earliest practical period. So im-
portant an object as the education of their children they 
did not defer until they could build more comely and 
convenient houses. They were for a time content with 
such as corresponded with their rude dwellings, but soon 
better buildings and accommodations were provided. As 
may readily be supposed, the accommodations of the 
earliest schools were not good.  

Sometimes school was taught in a room of a large or 
double log cabin, but oftener in a log house built for the 
purpose. A mud and stick chimney in one end of the 
building, with earthen hearth and a fireplace wide and 
deep enough to receive a four to six foot back-log, and 
smaller wood to match, served for warming purposes in 
winter and a kind of conservatory in summer. For win-
dows, part of a log was cut out in two sides of the build-
ing and may be a few lights of eight by ten glass set in, or 
the aperture might be covered over with greased paper. 
Writing desks consisted of heavy oak plank or a hewed 
slab laid upon wooden pins driven into the wall. The four
-legged slab benches were in front of these, and the pu-
pils when not writing would sit with their backs against 
the front, sharp edge of the writing-desks. The floor was 
also made out of these slabs or " puncheons," laid upon 
log sleepers. Everything was rude and plain; but many of 
America's greatest men have gone out from just such 
schoolhouses to grapple with the world and make names 
for themselves and reflect honor upon their country. So 
with many of the most eloquent and efficient preachers.  

Imagine such a house with the children seated around, 
and the teacher seated on one end of a bench, with no 
more desk at his hand than any of the pupils have, and 
you have in view the whole scene. The " schoolmaster " 
has called "Books! books!" at the door, and the 
"scholars" have just run in almost out of breath from vig-
orous play, have taken their seats, and are for the mo-
ment "paying over their lessons" to themselves with all 
their might, that is, in as loud a whisper as possible.  

While they are thus engaged, the teacher is perhaps 
sharpening a few quill pens for the pupils, for no other 
kind of writing pen had been thought of as yet. In a few 
minutes he calls up an urchin to say his a b c's; the little 

boy stands beside the teacher, perhaps partially leaning 
upon his lap; the teacher with his pen-knife points to the 
letter and asks what it is; the little fellow remains silent, 
for he does not know what to say; "A," says the teacher; 
the boy echoes;  “A:" the teacher points to the next and 
asks what it is; the boy is silent again; “B," says the 
teacher; "B," echoes the little urchin; and so it goes 
through the exercise, at the conclusion of which the 
teacher tells the little “Major" to go back to his seat and 
study his letters, and when he conies to a letter he 
doesn't know, to come to him and he will tell him. He 
obediently goes to his seat, looks on his book a little 
while, and then goes trudging across the puncheon floor 
again in his bare feet, to the teacher, and points to a 
letter, probably outside of his lesson, and asks what it is. 
The teacher kindly tells him that that is not in his lesson, 
that he need not study that or look at it now; he will 
come to that some other day, and then he will learn 
what it is. The simple-minded little fellow then trudges, 
smilingly, as he catches the eye of someone back to his 
seat again. But why he smiled he has no definite idea. 

 The a-b-ab scholars through with, perhaps the second or 
third reader class would be called, who would stand in a 
row in front of the teacher, " toeing the mark," which 
was actually a chalk or charcoal mark drawn on the floor, 
and commencing at one end of the class, one would read 
the first " verse," the next the second, and so on around, 
taking the paragraphs in the order as they occur in the 
book. Whenever a pupil hesitated at a word, the teacher 
would pronounce it for him. And this was all there was of 
the reading exercise.  

Those studying arithmetic were but little classified, and 
they were therefore generally called forward singly and 
interviewed, or the teacher simply visited them at their 
seats. A lesson containing several "sums" would be given 
for the next day. Whenever the learner came to a sum 
he couldn't do, he would go to the teacher with it, who 
would willingly and patiently, if he had time, do it for 
him.  

In geography, no wall maps were used, no drawing re-
quired, and the studying and recitation comprised only 
the committing to memory, or "getting by heart." as it 
was called, the names and locality of places. The recita-
tion proceeded like this: Teacher, " Where is Norfolk?" 
Pupil, "In the southeastern part of Virginia." Teacher, 
"What bay is between Maryland and Virginia?" Pupil, 
"Chesapeake."  

Reprint from The History of Hocking Valley, Ohio 
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When the hour for writing arrived, the time was an-
nounced by the master, and every pupil practicing this 
art would turn his feet over to the back of his seat, thus 
throwing them under the writing desk, already de-
scribed, and proceed to " follow copy," which was invari-
ably set by the teacher, not by rule, but by as nice a 
stroke of the pen as he could make. The first copies for 
each pupil would be letters, and the second kind and last 
consisted of maxims.  

About half past ten o'clock the master would announce, 
"School may go out" which meant, "Little play time" in 
the children's parlance, called nowadays recess or inter-
mission. Often the practice was to have the boys and 
girls go out separately, in which case the teacher would 
first say, "The girls may go out," and after they had been 
out about ten minutes the boys were allowed a similar 
privilege in the same way. Between playtimes the re-
quest to the teacher, “May I go out?" was often iterated 
to the annoyance of the teacher and the disturbance of 
the school.  

At about half past eleven o'clock the teacher would an-
nounce, " Scholars may now get their spelling lessons," 
and they would all pitch in with their characteristic loud 
whisper and "say over" their lessons with that vigor 
which characterizes the movements of those who have 
just learned that the dinner hour and "big playtime" is 
near at hand. A few minutes before twelve the "little 
spelling class" would recite, then the "big spelling class." 
The latter would comprise the larger scholars and the 
major part of the school.  

The classes would stand in a row, either toeing the mark 
in the midst of the floor or straggling along next an unoc-
cupied portion of the wall. One end of the class was the 
“head" the other the " foot," and when a pupil spelled a 
word correctly, which had been missed by one or more, 
he would " go up " and take his station above all that had 
missed the word; this was called "turning them down." 
At the conclusion of the recitation the head pupil would 
go to the foot to have another opportunity of turning 
them all down. The class would number, and before tak-
ing their seats the teacher would say, "School's dis-
missed," which was the signal for every child rushing for 
his dinner and having the "big playtime."  

The same process of spelling would also be gone through 
in the afternoon just before dismissing the school for the 
day.  

The chief textbooks in which the scholars got their les-
sons were Webster's or some other elementary spelling-
book, and arithmetic may be Pike's, Dilworth's, Daboll's, 
Smiley's or Adams's, the old English reader, and Roswell 
C. Smith's geography and atlas. First, old Murray's, then 
Kirkham's grammar, were the textbooks on this subject. 
‘Book larnin" instead of practical oral instruction, was 
the only thing supposed to be attained in the primitive 
log schoolhouse days. But writing was generally taught 
with fair diligence. 

In the following pages, some of the pictures are courtesy of Mr. Stanley Huggins who allowed the author to scan some 

of his photos for this book.  Sharon Neff, a retired teacher from the district, was a consultant on writing this book.   
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The village of Laurelville is situated in the Salt Creek Val-
ley in Perry Township near the intersection of Hocking, 
Ross, and Pickaway Counties on State Route 56.  The vil-
lage was laid out on December 23, 1871, by John Albin, 
W. S. Albin, and Solomon Riegel, with the assistance of 
Rufus Dodson.  At the time it was laid out, there were 
three houses in the village.  A post office was established 
for the area in 1879 through the efforts of John Bates, 
the first postmaster. 

Early Laurelville could boast of having a sawmill, a flour 
mill, blacksmith shops, harness shops, a chair factory, a 
canning factory, a bakery, the Laurelville House Hotel, 
restaurants, and miscellaneous shops.  However, the 
lumber industry provided most of the employment op-
portunities for the residents.   

The first school in Laurelville was a one-room building 
across Laurel Run from the town park.  This structure was 
probably a log construction and had a capacity of 15 to 
20 elementary children.  These were the children of the 
first families of the village.  As was the practice at the 
time, major emphasis was placed on learning the 3 R’s, 
reading, writing and arithmetic.   

By 1875, Laurelville joined a community just west of the 
village and built a school called the Toad Run Academy.  
That name came from a small stream that joins Salt 
Creek.  It was called an academy since private individuals 
helped finance its operation. The school was in use for 
around 15 years. 

During those early years, the community of Laurelville 
continued to grow, and the school became more crowd-
ed with students.  Also many floods created continual 
problems for the school since it was located near the 

streams. After much discussion, it was agreed a new 
school should be built on a parcel of land donated by Al-
len Strous.  Mr. Strous was one of the leading citizens in 
the village; he believed that the school should be the hub 
of the community. The school board chose the land he 
offered because it would not be as vulnerable to floods. 

Soon the original two-room frame building expanded 
with the addition of another room, and then in 1913, a 
new four-room brick building was erected on the same 
plot of land. The new structure was erected in front of 
the old frame school.  The wooden structure was razed 
after the brick school was completed. This new brick 
building was considered to be very modern since it had a 
central heating system and was more fireproof than the 
wooden building it replaced.  

In 1924, four additional rooms were added to the back of 
the school.  That was sufficient for nine years, but with 

Toad Run Academy 

Old frame school showing the three rooms 

Laurelville 
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the growth of Laurelville, in 1935 an additional four 
rooms were added to the front, thus making the original 
four room school a twelve-room school.  With each addi-
tion, the school made many updates.  Electric lights, 
drinking fountains, interior decorating, and restrooms 
were added over the years. 

Several buildings were added to the school facilities.  
Adjacent to the school property was a plot of ground 
that Mr. Allen Strous had donated to the Baptist Church 

when it was first organized in Laurelville. When the Bap-
tist congregation disbanded, the lot was returned to Mr. 
Strous and thus became a part of the plot which he gave 
to the school.  The old Baptist Church was then convert-
ed into a bus garage and later made into the school 
office.  

Around 1920, the residents of Laurelville and the sur-
rounding area desired to build a community center.  
They wanted a hall large enough to accommodate two or 
three hundred people for public meetings, home talent 
plays, banquets, and a place to play basketball.  The 
Community Club organized fundraising through dona-
tions, community dinners, home talent plays and other 
sponsored activities and was able to  build the Communi-
ty Hall across the street from the school.  The Hall con-
tained an auditorium, gymnasium, classrooms and a caf-
eteria. Eventually the hall was donated to the board of 
education.  For several years the school cafeteria was 
located in the basement of this building. 

The new 1935 addition on front of the school 

The former Baptist Church building 

The original four-room school in 1913 

 The 1924 addition on the back 

The back of the building that was added in 1924 
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For students interested in agriculture, a combination 
farm shop and garage was built for agriculture and shop 
classes and repairing the school buses.  In 1955 the Com-
munity Hall was no longer needed as a gymnasium when 
a new building was built behind the school that con-
tained a gymnasium-auditorium and classrooms due to 
the growing student population.   

Then in 1956 a house was purchased from Robert Bow-
ers and converted into classrooms for vocational home 
economics.   

In 1963, the final building on the school grounds was 
constructed and housed a new cafeteria and more class-
rooms.  It had become too dangerous for the students to 
cross the road to use the Community Hall’s cafeteria.  
Thus the Community Hall was no longer used by the 
school once the new building was completed. 

The school colors for Laurelville were blue and gold.  The 
mascot was the wildcat.  The school yearbook was first 
named The Observer, then The Spectator, and later The 
Wildcat. 

Until 1960, Laurelville was part of the West Hocking 
School District.  At that time, it was able to have its own 
board of education and was no longer under the West 
Hocking School Board. 

In 1972, by order of the Ohio Board of Education, the 
Laurelville Public School District and West Hocking 
School District were dissolved. The West Hocking School 
District was split between the Logan City School District, 
now known as Logan-Hocking School District, and the 
Logan Elm School District.  Laurelville was also trans-
ferred to Logan Elm.  The high school students were 
bused to Logan Elm High School and the junior high stu-
dents to McDowell Middle School. 

In the 2012-2013 school year, the students in grades 5 
and 6 were sent to Salt Creek Intermediate school in 
Pickaway County and Laurelville became a K-4 elemen-
tary school. Thus another change came to the education-
al program at the school. 

On May 24, 2023, students left the school for the last 
time.  With the passage of a school bond levy in 2018, a 
new K-12 school complex was built just west of the origi-
nal Logan Elm High School in Pickaway County.  This 
closed the educational chapter for the village of Laurel-
ville, Perry and Salt Creek Townships in Hocking County.  
All the students in Perry and Salt Creek Townships plus 
part of Laurel Township are now being educated in the 
newly built school in Pickaway County.  Thus the western 
part of Hocking County no longer has a school within its 
borders.  However, the memories of days gone by will 
forever be a part of this great community.  New chapters 
are yet to be written. 

 

 

The Cafeteria Building 

The gymnasium building 

The Home Economics House 
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According to a volume entitled History of 
Hocking Valley, Laurelville was laid out in 
December 1871 and a school was built soon 
after.  By 1883 many wonderful improve-
ments had been made.  Laurelville school 
was one of 10 schools in Perry Township 
and there was a township school fund of 
$1,503.96.  Grade teachers’ salaries aver-
aged $28 a month for men and $22 for 
women.  Where there was a high school, 
the salaries were $48 and $34.  A school 
term averaged from 25 weeks to 36 weeks 
depending on the location and the weather. 

The early Laurelville school was located near the present 
location and the land was donated by Allen Strous, one 
of the founders of the town.  Mr. Strous is represented in 
the alumni by grandchildren, great-grandchildren, and at 
least one great-great grandson.  My own grandmother 
Hoy was his daughter, Sarah. 

A second room soon had to be added to the original one 
room school and it was built above the first.  When pupils 
had finished the “chart class,” as the beginner’s class was 
called, they advanced from one primer to another until 
they had read or finished all of the primers, plus learning 
writing and arithmetic.  I recall my dad telling of a boy 
with whom he went to school.  The boy wasn’t much in-
terested in school it seems and when a visitor asked what 
grade he was in the boy replied, “I don’t know what 
grade I’m in, but I’ve chewed up three primers.” 

One of the first teachers we have any record of was 
George W. Hartsough, grandfather of three of our alumni 
members.  Mr. Hartsough evidently taught a number of 
years as both Mr. George Bowers and his sister, Anna, 
recalled going to school and having him.  I have a grade 
card of my dad’s signed by Mr. Hartsough in 1892.  A 
Mrs. Seesholtz also taught here in the early days.  Other 
veteran teachers were Clifford Dodson and Ernest Wil-
kinson. 

As more pupils came to school, an intermediate room 
was added.  It was built at the side of the original build-
ing. 

Not all of the local children attended the village school, 
however.  Some preferred to go to the Toad Run Acade-
my which was a community school located just across 
the road from where the Fetherolf Meat Market now 
stands. 

Early in the 1900s a four-room brick school 
building was erected to replace the frame 
building.  There were two rooms up and two 
down. Among the teachers who enjoyed this 
modern building were Mable DeHaven 
(known to us as Mrs. George Bowers).  She 
was the primary teacher.  The intermediate 
teacher was Mrs. Maggie Floyd and teaching 
the upper grades and high school were Law-
rence Lehman and William Barton.  At that 
time only two years of high school were 
offered. Other teachers to follow in the next 
few years included Mr. Carrol Marquis, Mr. 

Godfrey, Mr. Stroup and Mr. Roy Still. 

The first class to graduate from a three-year high school 
and to be recognized by the state department was the 
class of 1917. 

In 1920, a young man came to Laurelville to take over the 
duties as school superintendent, the unforgettable Paul 
A. Potts.  He was a teacher who could make you like the 
subjects he taught in spite of yourself.  He could frighten 
you to death one minute with his sternness and tell you a 
joke the next.  He had many unique methods of dealing 
with misdemeanors.  One Friday in May a group of high 
school boys decided to play hooky and went to Mr. Live-
ly’s place on the last day of school down in the country.  
The next week I took a picture of the same boys as they 
diligently cut dandelions out of the front school yard.  Or, 
if Mr. Potts came upon a forbidden snowball fight In win-
ter, in a few minutes, we would hear the scrape of shov-
els as the boys cleaned snow from the front walks.  We 
were not allowed to use the front door at the building 
except when we first entered school in the morning.  The 
rest of the day we were to use the other exits.  One first 
day of school, a certain big sister brought her little broth-
er to school; he was six and a first grader.  As we stood 
talking with her, we noticed that her little brother, Bob-
by, was running in and out of the front door.  She imme-
diately caught him and said, “Bobby, you are not allowed 
to run in and out the front door like that.”  Bobby threw 
back his blond head and said, “Who’s going to stop me?”  
Grace said, “You wait till Mr. Potts catches you and you’ll 
find out.”  Little did we think then that in 1966, Bobby 
would be president of the Board of Education.  Our 
teachers told us to be quiet in the building, that Mr. Potts 
did not like noise.  If that was so, how did Hubert Lappen 
get by with those big heel plates he wore all through high 
school? 

From a speech given by Celesta Hoy, a 1932 alumnus, at the 1966 Laurelville Reunion 
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The school rooms were becoming crowded to overflow-
ing in the mid-1920s; something had to be done.  I’m 
sure some of you have felt that going to school was like 
going to jail.  When we were fourth graders, we went to 
jail to go to school.  The school board rented the town 
building, referred to as the Calaboose, which housed the 
mayor’s office and the jail and the large room where 
court was held.  This was the overflow room.  It was lo-
cated where Swepston’s garage now stands. They made 
it look like any school room; the only difference was that 
a door with bars opened directly into the jail.  This didn’t 
matter to us until one noon a man, who was to have a 
hearing that evening was brought to the jail.  He was 
quiet and well behaved, I recall, but to a room full of 
fourth, fifth and sixth graders, he might as well have 
been Dillinger.  We were really excited.  That fall a school 
levy was to be voted on so the day before election, we 
Calaboose occupants were marched all over town carry-
ing signs that read “get us out of jail.”  It worked and in 
due time four new rooms were added to the main build-
ing and again all pupils were housed under one roof. 

Teachers who worked under Mr. Potts during these first 
years included Frances Barclay Stone, James Archer, 
Ruth Davis Wolf, Mable Bushee Durbin, Mamie Bushee 
Strous, Edgar DeLong, Joseph Archer, Julia Archer Foster, 
Marie Mooney Barton, Leoca Hoy, Agnes Wiggins Wood-
ward, Clarence Swackhammer, Rowen Cherrington 
Vaughn, Loy Mosher, Ramon Current, Ruth Wharton, 
Audrey Meighen, George Dix, Trilba Yaple and others.  
The first music teacher was a Miss Wilson.  I don’t think 
anyone ever knew her first name.  For a long time, I 
thought her first name was Olmiss, that’s what the big 
kids called her, Ol Miss Wilson. 

In 1923, as the class was preparing to graduate from the 
then offered three-year high school, as had been the 
case for six years, word came from the state department 
that Laurelville High School had been granted a first-
grade charter and four years of study would be offered 
high school students from that time on.  That is why 
there was no graduating class in 1923.  The class of 1924 
had the honor of being the first class to graduate from a 
first-grade high school.  Members of this proud group 
were Mary Mettler, Mary Thompson, Opal Hoy, Opal 
Steel, Gertrude Ebert, Gladys Bowers, Robert Hilliard and 
Kenneth Archer. 

Mr. Potts left Laurelville to go to Amanda in 1936 and 
died six years later. 

Early in the 1920s, by the efforts of the women’s Com-
munity Club and the Men’s Improvement Club putting 
on home talent shows and plays, and by donations, un-
der the leadership of Lewis McClelland, the Community 

Hall was built.  Its purpose, a place for community activi-
ties including school entertainments and basketball 
games.  It was a red-letter day when, because at that 
time it was the best floor in the county, the Hocking 
County basketball tournament was played on the hall 
floor.  A few years ago, the building was given to the 
school and the basement served for many years as the 
school cafeteria. 

Early in the 1930s, South Perry High School students 
came to Laurelville and were a welcome addition. 

In the past 10 years, several new buildings have been 
completed on the school grounds.  In 1955, the building 
in which we are tonight.  Besides the auditorium, six 
classrooms are also under this roof.  Among other addi-
tions, a garage, a shop, a music building, and the old 
Baptist church has been converted into a bus garage.  
The latest addition is the new modern cafeteria. 

 Because of the consolidation of high schools, pupils 
from South Bloomingville and some from Adelphi have 
joined the Laurelville student body. 

With such growth and expansion, it would be impossible 
to list all of the many teachers in the past 30 years.  
However, the Executive Heads have been Joseph Archer, 
Elliott Reichelderfer, John Sekola, James Frey, O.S. Lim-
ing, C. B. Chilcote, Herman Massie and at present, Glen 
Christy. 

Just as impossible as naming teachers would be to name 
the important persons who have graduated from Laurel-
ville High School.  Every walk of life is represented by the 
nearly 800 alumni members, each important to the oth-
er. 

But as time marches on, and every year it seems to 
march a little faster, I am sure that Laurelville school will 
grow and advance, as every school must do that hopes 
to survive in this fast-moving world of which we are a 
part. 

The Laurelville School buildings 
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On April 16, 1855, John Strous sold an acre of land to the 
school directors of Salt Creek Township in Pickaway 
County. The land was located in the east half of Section 
36, Township 11, Range 20. It was north of a branch of 
Salt Creek, known as Toad Run, and on the north side of 
the Salt Creek Valley Turnpike. It was opposite the turn-
pike bridge across Toad Run. This transaction was rec-
orded in Volume 30, page 154, of the Pickaway County 
Records. The land was sold to the school directors for 
$1.00. 

On September 18, 1869, John and Angeline Strous sold 
land to the school directors, so that a foot bridge could 

be erected across Salt Creek for the students to use. It 
was necessary so that children from the Adelphi area 
and Laurelville, south of Salt Creek, could attend school. 
In 1901 a second bridge was erected to replace the origi-
nal one.  

In 1898, the teacher at the school was E. D. Ricketts. In 
1899 the school board member was George B. Arm-
strong. 

On March 10, 1917, Edward Strous purchased the school 
and the school and the land from the school directors 
for $250.00. The brick school building was taken down 
around 1925. 
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The Village of South Perry was laid out in 1838 by Levi 
Friend into 79 lots.  It is located in Laurel Valley at the 
base of Fast Hill, also known as Town Hill. There  were 
three streets and three alleys that run east and west.  
Center Street was the main street and was wider than 
the others.  It is now State Route 180 but was once 
known as the Logan Road before roads were numbered. 
The other streets on either side of Center Street were 
North Street and South Street. 

The first school was built in 1820 and was made of logs.  
There were at least three schools in the South Perry area.  
One was built where the township  building is now locat-
ed.  The school was there until sometime in the 1940s.  
The last of the three schools was a twelve grade school 
that was built east of South Perry in 1923-24 and was 
called South Perry High School.  It was sometimes known 
as Perry Township High School. 

High School classes were taught in this building for nearly 
ten years before the high school students were trans-
ferred to Laurelville.  The elementary students were 
transferred to Laurelville during the 1940s.  The old 
school became a nursing home for veterans for several 
years before being torn down. 

The first school in Perry Township was established in 
1805. The township had a total of 10 school in 1880.  The 
male  teachers received a salary of $28.00 per month 
while the female teachers earned only $22.00.  Some of 
the old schools included Poling, Pleasant Ridge and Un-
ion. 

The school year began the day after Labor Day and lasted 
until the end of April so that the boys could do the farm-
ing.  During recess, the students would play baseball, 
jump rope, or play with marbles.  At the annual Christmas 
program the students would exchange ten cent gifts.  
Community people would provide music for the school 
programs. 

In the South Perry elementary school, there was only one 
teacher for grades 1-4 and one for grades 5-8.  A full-time 
janitor and a music teacher, who came once or twice a 
week, were employed in the 1930s and 40s. 

Children from Buena Vista were transported to the South 
Perry School by means of an open wagon pulled by a 
team of mules.  Another box-like school wagon would 
bring students from over on Pine.  This wagon had a roof 
and was pulled also by mules. 
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The above list of alumni shows where each of them lived in 1930. 
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Hemp Hill School 1912 

South Perry School 1915 
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The school was located on State Route 56 two miles south of Laurelville. 
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Located southeast of the village of Laurelville in Perry 
Township of Hocking County is Salt Creek Township.  It is 
in the fertile valley of Salt Creek which flows through it 
and for which it received its name.   

The early settlers of Salt Creek Township were mostly 
farmers.  Only one village was located within this town-
ship.  It was located near where Pine Creek joins Salt 
Creek.  Thus its name was Pineville.  Later the name was 
changed to Haynes to honor a prominent pioneer family. 

Haynes had several dwellings and two general stores., a 
blacksmith shop and a post office.  D. L. Davis was ap-
pointed the first postmaster.  The surrounding farmland 
is bottom land and provided the area with great crops 
and other agricultural products. 

Haynes is almost exactly halfway between Laurelville and 
South Bloomingville, which is located in Benton Town-
ship, bordering Salt Creek Township on its eastern side. 
It was also a stop on the Columbus and Southern Rail-
road during the 1900s. 

Of interest are the many mounds that can be seen be-
tween Laurelville and Haynes.  Not only was it home to 
the Moundbuilders, but more recent Native Americans 
called it their home.  Several arrow heads and stone 
tools have been found in the fields showing that many 
indigenous people once called this area home. 

Some former schools in Salt Creek Township included 
Smith,  Karshner, Pine, and Brimstone. 
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1913 

1917 
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The last four rooms to be added to the original building 
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The following is a timeline of important events from 
1912 until 1972 for Laurelville School.  Most of the infor-
mation came from the board of education records. 

1912 – A motion was made at the 
May meeting to hire teachers for the 
coming year with the intention of 
establishing a third-grade high 
school.  Everett Archer was elected as 
primary teacher, Fred Dent for the 
Intermediate room, and William Hen-
ry Barton as the superintendent.  Mr. 
Barton became the superintendent 
of the Adelphi School around 1920. 

1913 – The school board met in a called session in the 
Churcheus Harness Shop on April 3 and adopted this res-
olution: “Resolved by the Board of Education of Laurel-
ville Special School District of Laurelville, Hocking Coun-
ty, that it is necessary for the proper accommodation of 
the schools of said district that a new four-room two-
story, brick schoolhouse with basement be built – that it 
will require $12,000.” 

An election held on April 19 on the question of issuing 
bonds for the purpose of building a new schoolhouse 
passed by a 82-29 vote. 

The contract for the erection of the new school building 
was awarded to J. D. Van Gundy.  The Bartlett Brothers 
Company’s bid for heating and ventilating was also ac-
cepted. 

1914 – At a meeting in the mayor’s office, J. J. Reichel-
derfer, C. N. White and A. A. Koch were sworn in as 
members of the school board.  It was decided to have 
the clerk notify the truant officer to be stricter in looking 
after the truants. 

The one-story old schoolhouse was sold to Laurelville 
Village for $152 and the old two-story frame building 
was bought for $101 by J. K. Steele.  The veranda was 
sold to C. D. Bushee for $5.  The brick in the walk sold for 
$7 and the coal house was sold at a private sale. 

1915 – School District Superintendent Crider and County 
Superintendent Brashears were present at the first 
meeting.  Edward Berthold presented this summary of 
the enumeration: 22 youths between the ages of six and 
eight, 61 youths between the ages of eight and fourteen, 
18 youths between the ages of fourteen and sixteen, and 
19 youths between the ages of sixteen and twenty-one.   

Joseph Fetherolf was hired as the truant officer. The 

school board voted to build a screen in front of the girls’ 
closet in the bathroom and put locks on both closets. 

Blackboards and seats were purchased from the Picka-
way Centralized High School with the intention of var-
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nishing the desks and painting the iron on the old seats.  
George N. Dunn would receive $4 for hiring an auto and 
making two trips to Pickaway Township. 

The following subjects were being taught in the high 
school: Latin, Algebra, Geometry, Physical Geography, 
Botany, Civics, American History, Elementary Bookkeep-
ing, English and Agriculture. 

1916 – The rooms in the school were divided such that 
room 1 housed grades 1-4, room 2 contained grades 5-7, 
room 3 was for grade 8 and high school freshmen, and 
room 4 was for the second and third year high school 
students. 

1917 – The school board mandated that all members of 
the first graduating class deliver orations.  

1922 – The school board met at the J. C. Woodard store.  
The board agreed to accept the offer of Irvin L. Dunnigan 
to give the commencement address for $25 an hour and 
to pay his own expenses. 

E. H. Flannigan was hired to transport students from the 
Bowers Road intersecting the Middle Fork Road at the 
rate of $80 a month.  He was required to bring them 
every day of school except in the case of an epidemic.  In 
that event, Mr. Flannigan would only draw half his pay. 

1923 – The Town Hall was rented for a grade school 
room due to overcrowding.  An application was made to 
the Ohio State Department of Education for a charter to 
operate a first-grade high school. The application was 
approved, and the school became a four-year high 
school the next year.  Thus, there was no graduation for 
1923 and the students were required to attend another 
year.  Most students in the past went to Salt Creek High 
School  in Pickaway County for their fourth year. 

1924 – The school board, which was composed of 
George Deffenbaugh, the president, Wayne Armstrong, 
G. W. Triplett, Gerald Rose and I. J. Kohler as clerk, de-
cided to comply with an order from the Hocking County 
Board of Health that all children be vaccinated. 

At the fall general election on November 4, 1924, held 
between the hours of 5:30 a.m. and 5:30 p.m. Central 
Standard Time, the voters of the Laurelville School Dis-
trict voted in favor of issuing bonds in the amount of 
$20,000 for the purpose of adding four additional rooms 
and a basement to the present school building. 

1925 – Nine acres of land were purchased from Mr. A. I. 
Dumm for school use. 

1926 – The school board passed a resolution that the 
practice of teachers and students playing pool during 
the noon hour be prohibited. 

C. N. White was given permission to use water from the 
spring on the school property provided that he build a 
tank at the spring at his own expense and for his own 
personal use and that of the school. 

1927 – The school board purchased classroom maps ac-
cording to state requirements in order to receive state 
aid.  The board also met in special session on the advice 
of the Hocking County Heath Department to consider 
closing the school because of a threatened epidemic of 
scarlet fever.  The school was reopened on November 28 
after being closed for twelve days. 

All teachers who had not had two years of teacher train-
ing were required to earn six hours of college training 
before the next school year. 

1929 – The Hocking County superintendent was author-
ized to confer with the State Department of Education 
about adding a Commercial Department at the high 
school.   

The Community Hall of Laurelville was deeded to the 
Laurelville Board of Education. 

1930 – The school board met in Hosler’s Lunchroom and 
voted to pay $160 toward the purchase of a radio for 
the school.  Two typewriters and two tables were also 
purchased.  If more students registered for the type-
writing course, creating a need for additional machines, 
the superintended was authorized to make the pur-
chase. 

1931 – It was decided by the school board that all 
schools of the district be continued for nine months.  
The pasture field would not be offered for rent during 
the summer.  Teachers were permitted to attend the 
Southeastern Teachers Meeting held in Athens. 

It was decided that expenditures for the Domestic Sci-
ence Department be limited to $2.60 a month during the 
time cooking was being done. 

1932 – The school was to extend for eight months.  
Sealed bids were accepted for school bus routes.  The 
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successful bidders, J. T. Rose and Don Thompson, were 
awarded two-year contracts by meeting the following 
stipulations: furnish a vehicle with 3 speeds, serviceable 
sliding transmission motor, factory-built body, liability 
insurance in the amount of $25,000 and all equipment to 
be acceptable by the Board of Education. 

1933 – A classroom was installed in the Community Hall 
basement.  Ray Poling installed a speaker line in the 
Community Hall.  The Karshner School building was 
offered for sale. 

1934 – The Vocational Agriculture Department was given 
the use of one acre of school land in the northwest cor-
ner, east of the school building and the Agriculture De-
partment was required to fence it.  Additional rooms 
were planned for the present building with the dirt from 
the excavation to be placed in the village park. 

1935 – The school board made an application to the 
State Department of Education for a Smith-Hughes 
Home Economics Course. [At this time, the home eco-
nomics courses were taught in the school building, but in 
1956 a house was purchased from Robert Bowers and 
used for home economics classes.] 

1936 – The Laurelville High School basketball team was 
the Hocking County champions. 

1946 – Wood floors in the school basement were re-
placed with concrete and asphalt tile. 

1948 – The board made plans to build a new shop and 
garage. 

1956 – The Hocking County Library Board purchased a 
bookmobile that visited the community and school on a 
regular basis. 

1960 – South Bloomingville students enrolled in Laurel-
ville High School. 

1963 – A new cafeteria and elementary classrooms were 
constructed. 

1964 – The classrooms in the school basement were con-
verted into a modern science laboratory. 

1972 – The Laurelville School District was transferred 
into the Logan Elm Local School District.  The junior stu-
dents went to McDowell Middle School and the high 
school students to Logan Elm High School. 

HOCKING COUNTY CHAMPIONS—1936 

First Row: Howard Egan, George Thompson, Hugh Poling, Gilbert Allen, Robert Thompson, Dick Bowers. 

Second Row: Merwin McClelland (Mgr), Junior Drum, Bob Macklin, Ben Worley, Joe Jinks and C. B. Chilcote (Coach). 
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1912-1915 William H. Barton 

1915-1917 Mr. Crider 

1917-1920 Carrol Marquis 

1920-1936 Paul A. Potts 

1936-1939 Joseph L. Archer 

1939-1941 Elliott F. Reichelderfer 

1941-1942 Joseph Archer 

1942-1944 Claude B. Chilcote 

1944-1945 John Sakola 

1945-1954 James Frey 

1954-1956 Sherman O Liming 

1956-1963 Claude B. Chilcote 

1963-1966 Herman L. Massie 

1966-1972 Glen Christy 

                         Herman L. Massie                                            Glen Christy                               

        Carrol Marquis 
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   Maxine Krisher                          Glen Christy                           Robert Dean                      James Capper                           Dale Drake 

Clarence Swackhammer 1920-24 

Loy J. Mosher  1924-29 

Maynard McDaniel 1929-32 

Ralph H. McCollister 1932-36 

Claude B. Chilcote 1936-42 

Harold D. Archer     1942-43 

Gay Kruger  1943-45 

Miles Graham  1945-54 

Sherman Liming**   1954-56 

William R. Hughes 1956-60 

Maxine Kircher  1960-65 

Glen Christy  1965-66 

Robert Dean  1966-71 

James Capper  1971-72 

Dale Drake  1972-73 

Charles Dean  1973-89 

Thomas Payne  1989-92 

Gary Wasmer  1992-95 

Asa Bradbury  1995-97 

Keitha Lane  1997-06 

Jill Riddle  2006-08 

Vicki Scott  2008-15 

Bret King  2015-18  

Tami Clark  2018-23 

** Sherman Liming was both super-
intendent and principal.  Ruth 
Thompson was the head teacher. 
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                Charles Dean                                        Thomas Payne       Gary Wasmer  

                Asa Bradbury           Keitha Lane    Jill Riddle 

                  Vicki Scott          Bret King                                                 Tami Clark 
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This is just one example of a cover for the many yearbooks.  
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School colors:  Blue and Gold       Mascot: Wildcats 

1946-47 
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1960-61 
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1961-62 
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1961-62 
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1962-63 

1963-64 
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Football 1964 
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1960-61 
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1962-63 



 

87 

1951-52 
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1952-53 
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1955-56 
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West Hocking School Board 1956-57 
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West Hocking Board of Education 

1957-58 
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Laurelville Board of Education 
1960 
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Laurelville Board of Education 
1962-63 
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High School faculty photos are included with the graduate photos in the following pages. 
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1955-56 
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1961-62 
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Laurelville High School  was a two-year high school until 1917 
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  Mamie Bushee  Ruth Davis                              Laura Diehl                            Tella Hamilton 

     Ben Ricketts                              Janet White                                    Agnes Wiggins 
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        Doris Ebert                        Leoca Marie Hoy                   Jaunita Huffman                 Pearl Lehman                              Charles Lively 

  Frances McClelland                 Arnold Poling                               Dallas Poling                           Dollie Stump                Teacher or Supt.                
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The Laurelville School which had stood for 110  years had its final chapter written starting on December 18, 2023 when 

the Watson General Contracting firm out of Newark, Ohio began demolition of the school and cafeteria building.  The 

job took only three days to complete the demolition and several more days to clean up the site.  On the next few pages 

are photos showing the demolition process for those three days and the cleanup that followed.  The photos were main-

ly taken by Sharon Neff and the drone photos were provided by BJ Van Fossen.   
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Taking out the underground oil tank before starting the project 
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The school and cafeteria building were taken down simultaneously  

This is the cafeteria building before and the next three pages show it being demolished.   
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Cafeteria rubble in foreground and school in the background 
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Cafeteria debris in the foreground 
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The cleanup of the site 
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